IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC10-1133

HARRY LEE BUTLER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mark S. Gruber Florida Bar No. 0330541 Maria Perinetti Florida Bar No. 0013837 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544 Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Harry Lee Butler's motion for postconviction relief brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Harry Butler was arrested on March 14, 1997 for the first degree murder of Leslie Fleming. A Pinellas County grand jury indicted Mr. Butler on one count of first degree murder on April 7, 1997. R. Vol. I, 6-7. The case was tried before The Honorable Frank Quesada from June 23-27, 1998. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the sole count of first degree murder on June 26, 1998. R. Vol. XVII, 1232. The penalty phase trial was held on June 27, 1998. The jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of eleven to one. *Id.* at 1321. On January 11, 1999, the trial court sentenced Mr. Butler to death. R. Vol. X, 1763. The judgment and sentence were affirmed at *Butler v. State*, 842 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2003).

Mr. Butler filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend on July 13, 2004, wherein he raised eleven claims. PC-R. Vol. II, 293-310; PC-R. Vol. III, 311-447. The State filed its response on September 10, 2004. *Id.* at 453-71. On December 14, 2004, Mr. Butler filed a Motion for Postconviction DNA Testing. *Id.* at 482-85. The circuit court filed an Order on DNA Testing and Expert Communication and Cooperation on April 8, 2005. PC-R. Vol. IV, 581-84. Mr. Butler filed an Amended Motion to

Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend on February 4, 2005, wherein he raised twelve claims. *Id.* at 519-69. The State filed its response on April 6, 2005. *Id.* at 575-80.

An evidentiary hearing was held on May 8-9, 2008. PC-R. Vol. IV, 675-98; PC-R. Vol. V, 699-880. The hearing was continued on November 6-7, 2008 and September 29, 2009. PC-R. Vol. VI, 906-1018; PC-R. Vol. VII, 1019-1204; PC-R. Vol. VIII, 1205-91; PC-R. Vol. IX, 1321-1419. Written closing arguments were filed by both parties. *Id.* at 1420-1508; PC-R. Vol. X, 1509-1613; PC-R. Vol. XI, 1619-1719, 1725-1783. On May 13, 2010, the circuit court filed an Order Denying Defendant's Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence. PC-R. Vol. XI, 1784-1810. A notice of appeal was timely filed on June 4, 2010. PC-R. Vol. XII, 1813-40.

WITNESSES PRESENTED AT EVIDENTIARY HEARING

The following witnesses testified at the evidentiary hearing or via deposition. The details of their testimony will be discussed in more detail under the individual claims.

Glenn Ross Caddy, Ph.D is a clinical and forensic psychologist who is board certified in five subspecialties, including clinical psychology, forensic psychology, behavioral medicine, human sexuality, and trauma. PC-R. Vol. VII, 1145-47.

David Dow is a professor at the University of Houston Law Center and the Director of Litigation at Texas Defender Service. PC-R. Vol. IX, 1331. He was qualified as an expert in the norms and standards regarding death penalty litigation. *Id.* at 1334-35. Since Mr. Butler's case was tried in 1998, he focused on the 1989 American Bar Association Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases [hereinafter 1989 ABA Guidelines]. *Id.* at 1337-38.

Shirley Furtick, MSW is a licensed social worker with several decades of experience. PC-R. Vol. VI, 946, 948.

Elizabeth Johnson, Ph.D is a forensic science consultant specializing in forensic biology and DNA issues. PC-R. Vol. V, 770.

Janice Stevenson, Ph.D is a licensed psychologist, who specializes in working with traumatized children and families. PC-R. Vol. VI, 958, 960.

Carol Beauchamp (a.k.a. Carol Davis) is a latent fingerprint examiner with the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office. PC-R. Vol. V, 709. She was assigned to Mr. Butler's case "as a latent examiner to analyze, compare and evaluate latent prints submitted to [her] for comparison purposes." *Id.* at 710.

Maude Brown is Harry Butler's great aunt. PC-R. Vol. VI, 919. Ms. Brown grew up in a home with Harry's mother, Estelle Walker. *Id*.

Richard Watts and Anne Borghetti represented Mr. Butler at trial. Mr. Watts was appointed to represent Mr. Butler after the Public Defender moved to withdraw. PC-R. Vol. V, 813. Later, Michael Schwartzberg, who is now deceased, was also appointed to represent Mr. Butler. *Id.* at 813, 815. Mr. Watts was mainly responsible for penalty phase, while Mr. Schwartzberg was mainly responsible for guilt phase. *Id.* at 813. Ms. Borghetti worked as a second chair, mainly on the penalty phase, at the direction of Mr. Watts and Mr. Schwartzberg. PC-R. Vol. VIII, 1211-12.

Annie Brookins has known the Butler family since she was fifteen years old. PC-R. Vol. XVIII, 3017. She has known Harry Butler since he was born. *Id.* at 3042.

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1) Fla. Const.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is *de novo*. *Stephens v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1032 (Fla. 2000). Under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984), ineffective assistance of counsel claims are a mixed question of law and fact; with the lower court's legal rulings reviewed *de novo* and deference given to factual findings supported by competent and substantial evidence. *Sochor v. State*, 883 So. 2d 766, 772 (Fla. 2004).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. Counsel provided deficient performance by failing to hire experts to identify DNA not belonging to Mr. Butler or the victim that was found in the sneakers the State claimed were worn by Mr. Butler at the time of the offense. There is a reasonable probability that if the jury had been presented with testimony regarding this unidentified DNA they would have found Mr. Butler not guilty.
- 2. Counsel rendered prejudicial ineffective assistance by failing to challenge the testimony of LaShara Butler. Had counsel presented an expert to explain the factors that would call into question LaShara's reliability, the jury would have disregarded her testimony, found reasonable doubt, and acquitted Mr. Butler. Furthermore, if counsel had presented an expert such as Dr. Stevenson at the competency hearing prior to trial, the trial court may have been persuaded that LaShara was incompetent to testify, in which case the jury would not have heard any of LaShara's testimony.
- 3. Counsel provided deficient performance by failing to investigate and perform any meaningful cross-examination of Terry Jackson. Information about Mr. Jackson's arrest history and the favorable treatment he received in his own cases in exchange for the information he provided in Mr. Butler's case, as well as Mr. Jackson's prior inconsistent statement, could have been used to impeach and

discredit Mr. Jackson, and would have established that Mr. Jackson had a personal motive to falsely testify against Mr. Butler.

- 4. Ms. Borghetti had an actual conflict with Mr. Butler due to her prior representation of State witness Terry Jackson. Counsel's performance in Mr. Butler's case was adversely affected by this conflict, as they did not depose Mr. Jackson or impeach him regarding his felony arrests for burglary, his prior felony convictions, or his prior inconsistent statement.
- 5. The State violated *Brady* when they failed to provide the defense with the handwritten notes of latent print examiner Carol Beauchamp, which would have informed the defense about the existence of an unidentified bloody print on a telephone at the crime scene. Furthermore, counsel provided deficient performance by failing to request Ms. Beauchamp's handwritten notes, depose Ms. Beauchamp, and present evidence of the bloody print at trial. There is a reasonable probability that if the defense had presented this evidence that an unidentified third party was present at the crime scene the jury would have found Mr. Butler not guilty.
- 6. Counsel provided deficient performance when they failed to object to associate medical examiner Marie Hansen's characterization of some of the victim's wounds as torturous wounds during the guilt/innocence phase of Mr. Butler's trial. This

testimony improperly inflamed and confused the jury. Had this testimony not been heard, there is a reasonable probability that Mr. Butler would have been acquitted, or that the jury would not have recommended death.

- 7. Counsel provided deficient performance when he told the jury in his opening statement that the DNA of an unknown individual was found on a glass door at the crime scene when, in fact, that DNA was located at a completely different location on the other side of town. As a result of counsel's misstatement, the defense lost credibility with the jury
- 8. Counsel provided deficient performance by failing to adequately prepare Mr. Butler to testify on his own behalf during his trial, causing him to give false testimony about the number of prior felony convictions he had and to volunteer that he was "on his way to prison." Counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Butler by undermining his credibility with the jury.
- 9. Counsel provided deficient performance in a penalty phase that Ms. Borgetti described as "horrible," where the only two defense witnesses harmed Mr. Butler. The mitigation presented during postconviction would have outweighed the one aggravating factor that was found at trial and resulted in a life sentence.
- 10. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Butler's claim that cumulative error deprived him of the fundamentally fair trial guaranteed under the Sixth, Eighth,

and Fourteenth Amendments and rendered his convictions and sentence of death unreliable.

ARGUMENT I

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. BUTLER'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO HIRE THE NECESSARY EXPERTS TO IDENTIFY DNA NOT BELONGING TO MR. BUTLER OR THE VICTIM THAT WAS FOUND IN THE SHOES THE STATE CLAIMED WERE WORN BY MR. BUTLER AT THE TIME OF THIS OFFENSE.

Mr. Butler alleged in Claim II of the motion for postconviction relief that trial counsel provided prejudicial ineffective assistance by failing to hire the necessary experts to identify DNA not belonging to Mr. Butler or the victim that was found in the sneakers the State claimed were worn by Mr. Butler at the time of the offense. PC-R. Vol. IV, 525-29. The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on this claim, and found that Mr. Butler failed to establish either prong of *Strickland*. PC-R. Vol. XI, 1786-90. Mr. Butler seeks review of this finding.

On direct appeal, this Court summarized the DNA evidence in Mr. Butler's case as follows:

Detective Green testified [Martisha] Kelly told him the murder weapon could be found in a dumpster near a food store where a pair of blue shorts, a white t-shirt, a pair of underwear, a towel, and a pair of tennis shoes having no laces were eventually found. However, no weapon was recovered from this location. Dr. Jeannie Eberhardt, a forensic scientist specializing in DNA serology, testified she found the presence of blood on the white t-shirt, but she was unable to confirm a

DNA profile of the blood. Blood stains found on the denim shorts, towel, and boxer shorts were also tested, with the same result. The blood was either of an inadequate amount or degraded. The dyes of the denim shorts inhibited DNA testing. However, testing of the sneakers revealed a DNA profile consistent with that of the victim.

Butler, 842 So. 2d at 821.

This Court further described the significance of the sneakers:

Dennis Tennell (Tennell) testified that he shared a motel room with Butler on the night of the murder and that he allowed Butler to borrow a pair of his Nike sneakers the next morning because Butler's shoes were wet. Tennell identified the sneakers found in the dumpster as Butler's. Butler testified he and Tennell attended a party and arrived at their room around 2 a.m. Tennell left for an hour on a "dope run." At some time during the night, Butler noticed the blue and white Converse sneakers were missing and when he asked Tennell where they were, Tennell responded, "I'm on a mission with them." Butler then borrowed Tennell's black Nikes, which Butler was wearing when he was arrested.

Butler, 842 So. 2d at 822.

The main line of defense in attacking the State's DNA evidence at trial, which Mr. Watts admitted was unsuccessful, was based on FDLE analyst Jeannie Eberhardt's qualifications in the area of statistics. PC-R. Vol. V, 817. Mr. Watts did not recall taking a deposition of Ms. Eberhardt. *Id.* at 818. The defense team consulted with Dr. Gary Litman, and they provided him with the DNA report from the FDLE. *Id.* at 815-16. Although today Mr. Watts always gets the bench notes, at the time of Mr. Butler's trial DNA was relatively new and he does not know if

he obtained the bench notes in this case. *Id.* at 817.

Elizabeth Johnson, Ph.D. testified at the postconviction evidentiary hearing that the FDLE conducted two sessions of DNA testing on the sneakers that were found in the dumpster. PC-R. Vol. V, 775-76. The first session indicated that blood stains on the sneakers were consistent with the victim's DNA. *Id.* at 775-76. The second session of DNA testing focused on the interior of the sneakers, possibly in an effort to determine who was wearing the shoes at the time of the offense. *Id.* at 776.

The two samples from the insert of the left shoe that were obtained during the second session of DNA testing were recorded on the FDLE report as inconclusive because they fell below the reporting criteria for the laboratory. PC-R. Vol. V, 776, 778, 782. In addition to reviewing the FDLE report, Dr. Johnson reviewed documents that were not reviewed by Dr. Litman prior to trial, such as Ms. Eberhardt's handwritten notes. *Id.* at 782. Since the FDLE report only stated that the results were "inconclusive," an expert would not have been able to ascertain that the sample contained useful data without reviewing these additional documents. *Id.* at 783. Even though the tests were inconclusive, the samples contained human DNA. *Id.* at 779. Worksheets and Ms. Eberhardt's notes revealed that there was enough data to establish that Mr. Butler did not contribute

to either of the samples. *Id.* at 779-80, 783. These areas gave a weak presumptive positive for human blood, which could have resulted from sources other than blood, such as microbes, bacteria, and fungus. *Id.* at 778-79. Dr. Johnson also noted that in later years, some laboratories changed their policies and reported weaker results, such as those obtained in the second session of DNA testing in Mr. Butler's case. *Id.* at 781.

Dr. Johnson recommended that postconviction DNA testing in Mr. Butler's case be conducted at Serological Research Institute (SRI) in California, as opposed to the FDLE laboratory in Tampa. PC-R. Vol. V, 784. Re-testing for DNA during postconviction was ordered and performed by FDLE. The FDLE testing did not reveal any discernable results. PC-R. Vol. X, 1601. When this Court was made aware of FDLE's prohibition of observers during testing, the State was ordered to provide a sample for independent evaluation. *Id.* at 1610-13. Subsequent testing of blood of the sneakers by SRI uncovered several identifiable matches that excluded Mr. Butler. PC-R. Vol. V, 793.

Dr. Johnson was present at SRI when they conducted the DNA analysis of the sneakers, and she was either kept apprised of or actually present for every step of the postconviction DNA analysis in this case, with the exception of the FDLE's examination of the sneakers before they were furnished to SRI. PC-R. Vol. V, 785. The left sneaker was labeled 56-A, and the right sneaker was labeled 56-B. *Id.* In addition to the sneakers, SRI received blood stains from Mr. Butler and Ms. Fleming, and oral swabs from Mr. Tennell. *Id.* at 786.

Dr. Johnson testified about the results of SRI's postconviction DNA analysis of the sneakers. PC-R. Vol. V, 787-95. Of particular relevance to Mr. Butler's case were the findings that Mr. Butler was excluded from the DNA that was detected, and the sneakers contained DNA from more than one unknown person, at least one of which is a male. *Id.* at 793. Dr. Johnson summarized the results:

Left Sneaker

- IL-1: Sample IL-1 was a blood stain on the sole of the left sneaker with a weak profile that appeared to match Ms. Fleming. *Id.* at 789.
- IL-2: Sample IL-2 was small apparent blood stain on the sole of the left sneaker with a weak partial profile of an unidentified human that did not match Mr. Butler, Ms. Fleming, or Mr. Tennell. *Id.* at 787-88.
- IL-3: Sample IL-3 was a sample from the fabric side of the insert of the left sneaker that gave a weak presumptive positive for the presence of blood, but it gave no DNA result. *Id.* at 790.
- IL-4: Sample IL-4 was human DNA that gave a weak presumptive positive for the presence of blood, and it did not match Mr. Butler, Ms. Fleming, or Mr. Tennell. *Id.* at 790.
- IL-5: Sample IL-5 was from the underside of the fabric insert of the left sneaker, and it gave virtually no result other than that it was a weak presumptive positive for blood. *Id.* at 790-91.

Right Sneaker

IR-1: Sample IR-1 was a blood stain on the rear of the right shoe, which was a mixture of more than one person. *Id.* at 791. It contained DNA from a male. *Id.* Mr. Butler, Ms. Fleming, and Mr. Tennell were excluded as contributors to that mixture. *Id.*

- IR-2: Sample IR-2 was a blood stain on the trim of the right sneaker that gave no results. *Id.* at 791.
- IR-3: Sample IR-3 was from the trim of the right shoe. *Id.* at 791. It have a presumptive positive for the presence of blood, but it gave no results. *Id.*
- IR-4: Sample IR-4 was the swabbing fabric side of the insert on the heel half of the right shoe. *Id.* at 791. It was negative for any presumptive chemical tests for blood. *Id.* at 791-92. It gave a very weak partial DNA profile for more than one person. *Id.* at 792. Mr. Butler, Ms. Fleming, and Mr. Tennell were excluded as contributors. *Id.*
- IR-5: Sample IR-5 was the swabbing of the fabric side of the insert on the toe half of the right shoe. *Id.* at 792. It was negative for presumptive tests for blood, and it did not produce any DNA results. *Id.* at 792.

Counsel's performance regarding the DNA evidence in this case "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. The circuit court pointed out in its order denying relief that counsel retained and consulted with a DNA expert in this case. PC-R. Vol. XI, 1789. Indeed, counsel consulted briefly with Dr. Litman to make sure no errors occurred. PC-R. Vol. V, 815, 819. However, they did not obtain the bench notes from the FDLE, which would have indicated that Mr. Butler was excluded from the DNA found on the sneakers. *Id.* at 817, 779-80, 783. They did not conduct independent DNA testing of the sneakers, which would have revealed unidentified DNA from more than one person, at least one of which was male. *Id.* at 793. Instead, they unsuccessfully focused on Ms. Eberhardt's qualifications in the area of statistics. *Id.* at 817.

Counsel's strategy of focusing on Ms. Eberhardt's qualifications was not based on a reasonable investigation, and therefore the strategy itself was not reasonable. *Wiggins v. Smith*, 123 U.S. 2527, 2535 (2003).

Mr. Butler has demonstrated that he was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance. The first session of testing conducted by FDLE indicated that the blood stains on the sneakers were consistent with Ms. Fleming's DNA. PC-R. Vol. V, 775-76. Presumably, whoever killed Ms. Fleming was wearing the sneakers. Mr. Butler testified that his sneakers were missing that night, and Mr. Tennell told him that he was "on a mission" with them. R. Vol. XVI, 1058-59; Butler, 842 So. 2d at 822. The circuit court held that the results of the additional DNA testing would have harmed the defense's case because Mr. Tennell was excluded as a potential source of DNA for the samples in question. PC-R. Vol. XI, 1790. However, since the sneakers were missing that night, there is no way that Mr. Butler can know for certain where they were or who was wearing them. The fact that unidentified male DNA was found in both of the sneakers lends credibility to Mr. Butler's claim that someone else was wearing his sneakers on the night Ms. Fleming was killed. If the jury had been presented with testimony regarding the unidentified DNA found in the sneakers, they would have found reasonable doubt, and they would have found Mr. Butler not guilty.

ARGUMENT II

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. BUTLER'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE BY FAILING TO CHALLENGE THE TESTIMONY OF LASHARA BUTLER.

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