IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HARRY BUTLER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-1133 L.T. No. CRC 97-04690 CFANO-A

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Telephone: 813-287-7910 Facsimile: 813-281-5501 katherine.blanco@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

There were three lawyers on this case; and, in most death penalty cases, the "second chair" attorney is usually in charge of

mental mitigation. Additional funds for a "mitigation specialist" likely would not have been approved by the Court. (V8/329; 347). Ms. Borghetti has never seen a "mitigation expert" testify in Pinellas County and has never heard of a "mitigation expert" testifying at trial [in lieu of witnesses who could provide direct testimony]. (V8/347-349). She checked Butler's criminal history and conferred with his prior counsel; the P.D.'s Office was very aggressive in murder cases and exploring mental health issues. (V8/326-328; 349-350). Ms. Borghetti spoke with several potential witnesses for the penalty phase: Colleen Ryan; Lee Roy Bell; Oran Pelham; Robin Green (the mother of Butler's oldest children); James Wood; the defendant's father, Junior; and the defendant's siblings, Sandra Butler and Terry Butler. (V8/312-313). The defense had the mental health experts' reports from Dr. Harold Smith, Dr. Fireman and Dr. Maher and she prepared subpoenas for some penalty phase witnesses. (V8/317; 319-320; 331; 334). Ms. Borghetti consulted with the forensic psychiatrist and prepared a notice of intent to present expert testimony of mental mitigation from Dr. Fireman. (V8/323-324; 330; 334; 336). Borghetti also provided Fireman with Butler's medical records and Dr. Fireman personally evaluated Butler. (V8/340-341). The decision not to call Dr. Fireman would have been made after consulting with Watts and Schwartzberg. (V8/325; 331-332). Schwartzberg was big on focusing on positive aspects of the defendant's life and would not want to emphasize

that the defendant was a drug dealer. (V8/333). Moreover, Borghetti would have objected if the prosecutor had argued that Butler was a drug dealer. (V8/333). This was a tough case - the victim had over 40 stab wounds, her jaw was broken, she was asphyxiated, her children were nearby during the attack, and the HAC aggravator is a very strong aggravating circumstance. (V8/332). Ms. Borghetti researched legal issues for the penalty phase, including the "HAC" aggravator (V8/334); she reviewed the forensic psychologist's competency assessment and she prepared a motion for statement of aggravating circumstances, memorandum on jury override and *Spencer* memorandum. (V8/316; 336-337).

Any decision on what to present during the penalty phase would have been made in conjunction with Mr. Watts. (V8/346). Attorney Watts made the strategic decision to go forward with the two family members, Junior and Sandra, who appeared to testify. Although the defense had planned to present Butler's life story, the penalty phase did not go as they had planned. (V8/310; 335). Instead, Butler's father, Junior, focused primarily on himself and insisted that he did not kill his own wife. (V8/310; 318). Sandra, who had been very supportive before trial, then "just turned" and revealed a dream where God told her that Harry had done it. (V8/319).

Although the family members were not as helpful as the defense anticipated, they nevertheless did include beneficial mitigation (including that Butler's mother died when he was a child, his

childhood was spent in rural Georgia, his family was very poor, and he was a loving and good son and brother); and this mitigation was highlighted during Mr. Schwartzberg's penalty phase closing. The Sixth Amendment does not require counsel to present all available mitigating evidence in the penalty phase of a capital trial in order to be deemed to have performed reasonably. To the extent Butler suggests this is necessary pursuant to ABA guidelines and Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003), this claim must be rejected. No case holds that the Constitution compels the presentation of all possible mitigating evidence. In Wiggins, the attorney had not investigated sufficiently to make a reasonable decision about what evidence to present. In Wiggins, the medical, school, and social services records revealed that the defendant suffered severe physical and sexual abuse at the hands of his alcoholic mother and various foster parents throughout his childhood, teenage years, and even into early adulthood. 539 U.S. at 516, 123 S. Ct. 2527. No cases interpret the Sixth Amendment as foreclosing counsel's ability to make reasonable strategic decisions on the presentation of available mitigating evidence. Furthermore, the ABA guidelines are not mandatory requirements, but are only guides to determining what is reasonable. See, Bobby v. Van Hook, 130 S. Ct. 13 (2009), citing Strickland.

In this case, defense counsel personally interviewed the mitigation witnesses and compiled the mitigation. However, Butler

appears to fault counsel for not calling a "mitigation expert" at the penalty phase - in lieu of witnesses with direct knowledge of Butler's background - to repeat otherwise inadmissible hearsay. However, hearsay would be admissible in the penalty phase only if the State would have had a fair opportunity to rebut it. See, Marek v. State, 14 So. 3d 985, 996 (Fla. 2009). Further, Butler has not shown that, at the time of trial, "mitigation experts" were used by the defense to repeat blatant hearsay. To the contrary, Ms. Borghetti's testimony refutes any such suggestion. Finally, any claim that an expert witness was essential to presenting mitigation was squarely rejected by the U.S. Supreme Court in Wong v. Belmontes, 130 S. Ct. 383 (2009). Trial counsel made a strategic decision to present expert testimony on mental health mitigation at the Spencer hearing only; and, in post-conviction, trial counsel also confirmed that the defense would not have presented additional drug-dealing testimony to the jury. Trial attorneys have great discretion in determining whether and how to present mental health evidence. Jones v. State, 928 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 2006). Florida case law has upheld the reasonableness of a mitigation strategy which focuses on humanizing the defendant rather than presenting available mental health or illegal drugrelated evidence that focuses on negative information. See, Jones, supra; Johnson v. State, 921 So. 2d 490, 501 (Fla. 2005). While it is true that the jury knew about Butler's drug-related background,

the defense did not intend to focus on it during the penalty phase; instead, the defense sought to present family members to testify about Butler's hardscrabble upbringing. Trial counsel's focus was a reasonable strategic decision and is unassailable under *Strickland*. See, *Jones; Pace v. State*, 854 So. 2d 167, 173-74 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting IAC claim asserting counsel should have presented evidence of illegal crack cocaine use); *Banks v. State*, 842 So. 2d 788 (Fla. 2003) (no IAC claim where counsel consulted mental health expert and decided against presenting mental health evidence after considering his options).

In addition, the presentation of additional or even more favorable mental health testimony in post-conviction does not render counsel's prior investigation into mitigation ineffective. See, Pace, 854 So. 2d at 175; Rivera v. State, 859 So. 2d 495, 504 (Fla. 2003); Card v. State, 992 So. 2d 810, 817 (Fla. 2008); Peede v. State, 955 So. 2d 480, 494 (Fla. 2007). Trial counsel's decisions were not uninformed; to the contrary, the defense had secured the services of several mental health experts to explore possible mental health mitigation. See, Jones, 928 So. 2d at 1186 (finding trial counsel's retaining of expert complied with duty to investigate mental mitigation); Johnson, 921 So. 2d at 500. Here, as Hodges v. State, 885 So. 2d 338, 347 (Fla. 2004), Butler's defense team included experienced attorneys who were keenly aware of the responsibility to find and introduce mitigating evidence.

The tactical decision to present Dr. Maher at the Spencer hearing only was objectively reasonable. In addition, the defense also explored mitigation through family members and friends. Although the penalty phase witnesses were not as helpful as the defense had expected, it is clear that the defense was aware of the type of mitigation available and determined to use the strategy of presenting family members.

Even if Butler arguably could demonstrate any deficiency of counsel, which the State strongly disputes, he cannot demonstrate any resulting prejudice. "Strickland does not require the State to 'rule out' a sentence of life in prison to prevail. Rather, Strickland places the burden on the defendant, not the State, to show a 'reasonable probability' that the result would have been different. 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S. Ct. 2052." Belmontes, 130 S. Ct. 383 (2009). Any potential deficiency in trial counsel's performance could not possibly have prejudiced Butler. This was an egregious case, clearly deserving of the ultimate punishment. The HAC factor is one of the "most serious aggravators set out in the statutory sentencing scheme." Aguirre-Jarquin v. State, 9 So. 3d 593, 610 (Fla. 2009), quoting Larkins v. State, 739 So.2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999). In addressing this most serious factor, the trial court found:

The evidence showed that Ms. Fleming was brutally stabbed, slashed beaten, strangled, suffocated, and left for dead while her three little girls slept just down the hall. According to the medical examiner, she was stabbed or slashed

with a sharp instrument 45 times on her neck, torso, and lower abdomen. Twenty-five of the wounds were deep stab wounds, and twenty of the wounds were wide, elongated incised wounds. There were so many wounds, in fact, that the medical examiner testified that "after a while describing them you run out of new words to describe them with." Some of the wounds were consistent with "torturous wounds" designed to torture or terrorize a victim. Ms. Fleming, the medical examiner testified, had such wounds on her neck, chest, and abdomen. Some of her wounds were "defensive wounds" inflicted when a victim tries to shield vital body parts from an **attacker.** A victim is, by definition, alive and conscious when such wounds are inflicted. Ms. Fleming had six of these wounds on her hands, and additional arguable defensive wounds on her arms; one stab wound went through her wrist. In addition to the stabbing and slashing, Ms. Fleming was beaten. The medical examiner testified that she had a fractured jaw, bruises in her mouth, swelling of her face and lips, and abrasions on her upper and lower lips. In addition to the stabbing and slashing and beating, Ms. Fleming was strangled. The medical examiner found petechiae in her left eye, a symptom consistent with pressure injury to the neck. Finally, a plastic bag was found on Ms. Fleming's face. A pillow was on the floor next to her face. The fatal wound, in the medical examiner's opinion, was a stab wound to the side of the neck which caused Ms. Fleming to bleed to death. The entire episode lasted ten minutes or more, the medical examiner estimated.

. . . The defendant offered the testimony of a psychiatrist to mitigate the State's position that the crime was unnecessarily torturous. The psychiatrist testified that a person experiencing a cocaine high may engage in behavior which is abnormally persevering and repetitive. However, the defendant, in his own testimony, never claimed that he was impaired by cocaine or other substances during the time of the murder. No witnesses testified to impairment. Therefore, the Court finds that this crime meets the criteria for heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Surely, the defendant showed no pity for Ms. Fleming in the way he killed her. The condition of her body, as described by the medical examiner, shows that the methods used to kill her were unnecessary. The evidence shows that some of the wounds were actually inflicted specifically to torture her. While we will never know for certain the order in which she was assaulted with a virtual menu of horror show techniques, we do know from Ms. Fleming's wounds that she was alive and fighting during part of the

*

assault. We also know this from the testimony of her young daughter by the defendant, who awoke briefly to the sound of Ms. Fleming screaming "Stop! Stop!" and glimpsed her father's leg entangled with her mother's legs. There was no conscience present in that living room that night, no pity. There was only horrible violence, torture and terror.

The Court gives this aggravating factor great weight.

(DA V5/829-833) (e.s.).

On direct appeal, this Court agreed that the "totality of the circumstances in this case, which includes this indifference combined with the brutality of this murder, supports imposition of the death penalty." Butler, 842 So. 2d at 834. The post-conviction testimony does not reduce Butler's moral culpability for this crime, at all, and would not have shifted the balance of aggravating and mitigating factors. None of the post-conviction evidence establishes any statutory mitigating circumstances in his favor; and, in rejecting the statutory mitigation of "extreme mental or emotional disturbance," the trial court previously explained:

The defendant states that he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance when the crime was committed. Florida Statute 921.141(6)(b). He argues that he presented the court with his own testimony and the testimony of friends and relatives "to the effect" that he was under extreme emotional disturbance. He does not cite or quote any testimony. The Court is not reasonably convinced-the test for a mitigating factor-that this factor exists. The defendant, when testifying, did not offer any such evidence. Several of his friends testified to events of that evening, and pictured the defendant as engaged in a cocaine party at a motel. But there was no description of the defendant presented which could meet the standard of extreme emotional disturbance. The defendant testified that he ingested cocaine during the evening, but never stated that he was impaired. Based upon

the totality of the facts, the Court finds that this factor does not exist.

(DA V5/832-833) (e.s.).

The additional mitigation offered in post-conviction is not compelling and adds nothing significant to the mitigation already weighed by the trial court. The additional "mitigating" evidence offered in post-conviction is largely anecdotal hearsay and much of it concerns other family members and events that occurred outside the presence of Butler. See, Hodges, 885 So. 2d at 349, n. 6. Τn addition, much of the post-conviction testimony simply would have amplified the themes previously raised at trial and addressed at sentencing. See, Marquard v. Sec'y for Dep't of Corr., 429 F. 3d 1278, 1308 (11th Cir. 2005) Moreover, the additional postconviction testimony on non-statutory mitigation is mixed and of limited value. Despite a claim of an impoverished childhood, Butler's evidence showed that he had a family that loved him and Further, the post-conviction experts largely cared for him. duplicated information previously known by the defense; and the unremarkable disclosure that, unfortunately, 40+ years ago in rural Georgia, black people were not treated as well as white people does not mitigate Butler's heinous crime. The additional evidence offered in post-conviction does not alter the powerful HAC aggravator, and the prejudice prong of Strickland cannot be satisfied.

ISSUE X THE CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM

Lastly, Butler argues that he was denied a fundamentally fair trial and that relief should be granted on the basis of alleged cumulative error. In denying this claim, the trial court concluded:

Finally, Butler alleges that the cumulative effect of the errors alleged in the above claims has sufficiently prejudiced him as to merit relief. As claims I through X have been found to be without merit, cumulative error analysis in not appropriate in this instance. See Griffin v. State, 866 So 2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003) ("[W]here individual claims of error alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit, the claim of cumulative error must fail."). Accordingly, this claim is denied.

(V11/1808-09).

A claim of alleged trial error is cognizable on direct appeal; and, therefore, is procedurally barred in post-conviction. Furthermore, here, as in *Bradley v. State*, 33 So. 3d 664 (Fla. 2010), where the alleged errors urged for consideration in a cumulative error analysis "are either meritless, procedurally barred, or do not meet the *Strickland* standard for ineffective assistance of counsel[,] ... the contention of cumulative error is similarly without merit." *Id.*, citing *Israel v. State*, 985 So. 2d 510, 520 (Fla. 2008).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, arguments and citations of authority the decision of the lower court should be affirmed.